

UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TEACHERS' PROFESSIONAL LEARNING AND TEACHING PRACTICES IN SELANGOR, MALAYSIA

ROYA ROUSTAEE



RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TEACHERS' PROFESSIONAL LEARNING AND TEACHING PRACTICES IN SELANGOR, MALAYSIA

By

ROYA ROUSTAEE

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Degree of Master of Science

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos icons, photographs and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my father, to my beloved mother and my dearest sisters for their endless love, support and encouragement.

Abstract of thesis presented to the senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TEACHERS' PROFESSIONAL LEARNING AND TEACHING PRACTICES IN SELANGOR, MALAYSIA

By

ROYA ROUSTAEE

April 2014

Chairman: Suhaida Abdul Kadir, PhD

Faculty: Educational Studies

The main objective of this study is to investigate professional learning among teachers and its relationship with teachers' classroom practices. The study is aimed to find the level of teachers' engagement in informal professional learning as well as the level of effective teaching practice based on constructivism approach. It also attempts to compare professional learning and teaching practices based on demographic variables such as gender, ethnicity, highest qualification and field of speciality. This study also seeks to determine the relationship between teachers' years of experience with teachers' professional learning and teaching practices. The instrument was a questionnaire based on the work of Kwakman (2003) and Greer (1997). The questionnaires were administered to 500 secondary school teachers from 10 educational districts of Selangor. The findings indicated that the majority of teachers often engage in professional learning activities. In addition, the results indicated that teachers agree that they implement effective teaching practices according to constructivist teaching approach. One Way ANOVA test showed that Technical and Vocational teacher engaged significantly more in professional learning compared to teachers in other field of specialty. However there was no significant difference in teachers' professional learning based on gender, ethnicity, and teachers' qualification. The results also indicated that Technical and Vocational teacher implement significantly more effective teaching practice based on constructivism approach compared to teachers in other fields of specialty. There was no significant difference in teaching practices based on gender, ethnicity and the teachers' qualification. Pearson correlation test showed that teacher's years of experience has a significant strong and positive relationship with professional learning and teaching practices. According to the main objective of this study, the data showed that there is a significant strong and positive relationship between teachers' professional learning and teaching practices. It can be concluded that when teacher engage more in informal professional learning, more effective teaching practice is implemented in the classroom. Based on the findings, it is recommended that school administrator need to encourage and support teachers to engage in

professional learning. Incentive and support system should be provided to increase professional learning among teachers.



HUBUNGAN ANTARA PEMBELAJARAN PROFESIONAL GURU DENGAN AMALAN PENGAJARAN DI SELANGOR, MALAYSIA

Oleh

ROYA ROUSTAEE

April 2015

Pengerusi: Suhaida Abdul Kadir, PhD

Fakulti: Pengajian Pendidikan

Objektif utama kajian ini ialah mengkaji pembelajaran professional di kalangan guru dan hubungannya dengan amalan bilik darjah mereka. Kajian ini bertujuan menentukan tahap keterlibatan guru dalam pembelajaran professional informal dan juga tahap amalan pengajaran berkesan berdasarkan pendekatan konstruktivisme. Pembelajaran professional guru dan amalan pengajaran juga dibandingkan berdasarkan faktor demografi seperti jantina, etnik, kelayakan tertinggi dan bidang pengkhususan. Kajian ini juga menentukan hubungan antara pengalaman mengajar guru dengan pembelajaran profesional dan amalan pengajaran. Instrumen kajian terdiri daripada soal selidik yang diubah suai daripada Kwakman (2003) dan Greer (1997). Soal selidik diedarkan kepada 500 orang guru sekolah menengah di sepuluh daerah di Selangor. Dapatan kajian menunjukkan keseluruhan guru sering terlibat dalam aktiviti pembelajaran profesional. Guru juga bersetuju bahawa mereka melaksanakan amalan pengajaran berkesan berdasarkan pendekatan pengajaran konstruktivisme. Ujian ANOVA sehala menunjukkan Guru Teknikal dan Vokasional lebih melibatkan diri dalam pembelajaran professional secara signifikan berbanding dengan bidang pengkhususan lain. Walau bagaimanapun, tidak terdapat perbezaan yang signifikan pembelajaran professional guru berdasarkan jantina, etnik dan kelayakan tertinggi. Dapatan kajian juga menunjukkan guru Teknikal dan Vokasional lebih melaksanakan amalan pengajaran berkesan berdasarkan pendekatan konstruktivism secara signifikan berbanding dengan bidang pengkhususan lain. Walau bagaimanapun, tidak terdapat perbezaan yang signifikan amalan pengajaran berdasarkan jantina, etnik dan kelayakan tertinggi. Ujian korelasi Pearson menunjukkan pengalaman mengajar mempunyai hubungan yang kuat dan positif secara signifikan dengan pembelajaran profesional dan amalan pengajaran. Berdasarkan objektif utama kajian ini, data menunjukkan bahawa terdapat hubungan yang kuat dan positif secara signifikan antara pembelajaran professional guru dengan amalan pengajaran. Ia dapat dirumuskan bahawa apabila semakin guru melibatkan diri dalam pembelajaran professional secara informal, amalan pengajaran berkesan lebih

kerap dilaksanakan di dalam bilik darjah. Berdasarkan dapatan, dicadangkan pentadbir sekolah perlu menggalakan dan memberi sokongan kepada guru untuk melibatkan diri dalam pembelajaran professional. Insentif dan sistem sokongan perlu disediakan untuk meningkatkan pembelajaran professional di kalangan guru.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and above all, I would like to thank God for equipping me with patience, strength and confidence for accomplishing this thesis.

This study would not have been completed successfully without the help and guidance of all my supervisors. I would like to express my deepest and heartfelt gratitude to my Chairperson of Supervisory Committee Dr. Suhaida Abd Kadir for her continued guidance, feedback, patience, support and encouragement. Dr. Suhaida was the one who assist me in attaining information about the context of Malaysia and helped me to solve the problems I faced during the writing of thesis. My special appreciation to her again who bear the burden of advising and correcting my writings.

My deepest gratitude also goes to Dr. Soaib Asimiran who has supervised my thesis from very beginning to the end. His guidance has given details and depth to this research. I am also thankful for his thoughtful comments and rational critics.

Special thanks to my dear friends Baharak Talebloo, Dr. Masoumeh Pourrajab, Aso Aminnezhad and Sara Kasmaienezhadfard for all their mental and emotional support and encouragement.

Finally, I am indebted to my beloved family; my dear mother and my kind sisters for their prayers, support, and encouragement. Without their unfailing love, care and inspiration this research definitely wouldn't be successful.

I certify that a Thesis Examination Committee has met on to conduct the final examination of Roya Roustaee on her thesis entitled "Relationship between Teachers' Professional Learning and Teaching Practices in Selangor, Malaysia" in accordance with the Universities and Universiti Colleges Act 1971 and the Constitution of the Universiti Putra Malaysia [P.U. (A)106] 15 March 1998. The committee recommends that the students be awarded the Master of Science.

Members of the Thesis Examination Committee were as follows:

Y. Bhg. Prof. Dr. Zaidatol Akmaliah bt Lope Pihie

Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Dr. Ramli Bin Basri

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Educational Studies
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Internal Examiner)

Prof. Madya Dr. Muhammad Faizal A. Ghani

Assoc. Professor
Faculty of Education Building
Universiti of Malaya
(External Examiner)

NORITAH OMAR, PhD

Assoc Prof. and Deputy Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Suhaida binti Abdul Kadir, PhD

Senior Lecturer Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Soaib b Asimiran, PhD

Senior Lecturer Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

BUJANG BIN KIM HUAT, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

DECLARATION BY MEMBERS OF SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

Signature: Name of Chairman of Supervisory Committee:	PM N	Signature: Name of Chairman of Supervisory Committee:
Signature: —		Signature:
Name of		Name of
Chairman of		Chairman of
Supervisory		Supervisory
Committee: —		Committee:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			PAGE
	RAK OWL	EDGEMENT FION BY MEMBERS OF SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE	i iii v viii
LIST O			ixi
LIST O	F FI	GURES	xiii
LIST O	F AE	BBRIVIATIONS	xiv
CHAPT	ΓER		
1	INT	RODUCTION	1
•	1.1	Overview	1
	1.2	Background of Study	1
		1.2.1 Professional Learning	1
		1.2.2 Teaching Practices	4
	1.3	Problem Statement	5
	1.4	Objectives of the study	6
	1.5	Research questions	7
	1.6	Significance of Study	7
	1.7	Limitations of Study	8
	1.8	Definition of Terms	9
		1.8.1 Teachers' Professional learning	9
		1.8.2 Teaching Practices	9
2	LIT	ERATURE REVIEW	11
	2.1	Teachers' Professional Development	11
	2.2	Teachers' Professional Learning	11
		2.2.1 Formal Professional learning	14
		2.2.2 Informal Professional Learning	15
	2.3	Models and Theories of Professional Learning	19
		2.3.1 Models of Professional Learning	19
		2.3.2 Theories of Professional Learning	21
	2.4	Teaching Practices	26
	2.5	Theories of Teaching Practices	27
		2.5.1 Behaviorism	27
		2.5.2 Constructivism	28
	2.6	Theories of Constructivist Teaching Practices	29

		2.6.1 Cognitive Constructivism	29
	2.5	2.6.2 Social Constructivism	30
	2.7	Constructivist Teaching Practices	32
	2.0	2.7.1 Sub-dimensions of Teaching Practices	33
	2.8	Relationship between Professional Learning and Teaching	25
	2.0	Practices The Practices	35
	2.9	Theoretical Framework	36
		2.9.1 Teachers' Professional Learning	36
	2.10	2.9.2 Teaching Practices	36
	2.10	Relationship between Demographic Variables, Teaching	27
	2.11	Practices and Professional Learning	37
	2.11	Conceptual Framework	38
	2.12	Summary	40
3	METHOL	OOLOGY	41
3	3.1	Research Design	41
	3.2	Location of Study	41
	3.3	Population and Sampling	41
	3.4	Instrumentation	43
	3.1	3.4.1 Teaching Practices	43
		3.4.2 Professional Learning	45
	3.5	Validity and Reliability	46
	3.6	Data Collection Procedure	47
	3.7	Data Analysis	48
	3.7	3.7.1 Descriptive Statistics	48
		3.7.2 Inferential Statistics	49
	3.8	Summary	50
	3.0	building	20
4	RESULT	AND DISCUSSION	52
	4.1	Demographic Profile of Respondents	52
		4.1.1 Gender	52
		4.1.2 Ethnicity	52
		4.1.3 Highest Qualification	53
		4.1.4 Field of Specialty	53
		4.1.5 Years of Experience	54
	4.2	Teachers' Professional Learning	54
		4.2.1 Teachers' Professional Learning in Secondary	
		Schools	54
		4.2.2 Difference in Teachers' Professional Learning	
		based on Demographic Variables	57
		4.2.3 Relationship between Teachers' Years of	

			Experience and Professional Learning	59
	4.3	Teaching	Practices	60
		4.3.1	Teaching Practices in Secondary Schools	60
		4.3.2	Teaching Practices Based on Demographic	
			Variables	69
		4.3.3	Relationship between Teachers' Years of	
			Experience and Teaching Practices	70
	4.4	Relationsl	hip between Teachers' Professional Learning and	
		Teaching		71
	4.5		n of the Results	71
		4.5.1	Teachers' Professional Learning	72
		4.5.2	Teaching Practices	75
		4.5.3	Relationship between Professional Learning and	
			Teaching Practices	78
	4.6	Summary	•	78
_	~~~ <i>-</i> ~ <i>-</i>			
5			CATION AND RECOMMENDATION	80
	5.1	Introducti		80
	5.2	Summary		80
	5.3		of Findings	81
	5.4		ion to the Theory	82
	5.5		ion to Practice	82
	5.6		on of the Research	83
	5.7	Recomme		84
		5.7.1	Specific Recommendations	84
		5.7.2	General Recommendations	85
RIRI	IOGRAPH	IV		86
	ENDICES	-		106
	DATA OF S	STUDENT		123
		ICATIONS		124
			AND CONGRESSES	125

LIST OF TABLES

Tab	le P	age
3.1	Distribution of the Gender of the Population	42
3.2	Segmentation of Schools and Teachers	43
3.3	Items in Teaching Practices Subscales	45
	Items in Teachers' Professional Learning Subscales	46
	Cronbach's Alpha for Variables and Subscales	47
3.6	The Level of Frequency in Professional Learning	48
3.7	The Levels of Agreement in Teaching Practices	49
3.8	Range of Interpreting the Correlation	50
3.9	Summary of Statistical Procedures	51
4.1	Distribution of Participants by Gender	52
4.2	Distribution of Participants by Ethnicity	53
4.3	Distribution of Participants by Highest Qualification	53
4.4	Distribution of Participants by Field of Specialty	53
4.5	Mean Score of Teachers' Years of Experience	54
4.6	Means, Standard Deviations for subscales of Teachers' Professional Learning	55
4.7	Items of Individual Learning	55
4.8	Item of Collaborative Learning	56
4.9	Items of Learning using ICT	57
4.10	The Difference in Teachers' Professional Learning based on Demographic	
	Variables	58
	Post Hoc Results of Professional Learning based on the Field of Specialty	59
4.12	Relationship between Teachers' Professional Learning and Teachers' Years	
	of Experience	59
	Means, Standard Deviations for Teaching Practices and its Subscales	60
	Items of Community of Learners	62
	Items of Teaching Strategies	64
	Items of Learning Activities	66
	Items of Curriculum-Assessment	68
	Difference in Teaching Practices based on Demographic Variables	69
	Post-Hoc Results of Teaching Practices based on Field of Specialty	70
4.21	The Relationship between Teaching Practices and Teachers' Years of	
	Experience	71
4.22	Relationship between Teachers' Professional Learning and Teachers' Teaching	•
	Practices	71

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		
2.1	The Theoretical Framework	37
2.2	Conceptual Framework of the Study	40



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CDC Curriculum Development Center
CLM Constructivist Learning Model
DEO District Education Office

EPRD Educational Planning and Research

Department

ETD Educational Technology Division

IAB Institute Aminuddin Baki

ICT Information and Communication Technology

MOE Ministry of Education NKRA National Key Result Areas

SED

SEAMEO RECSAM Southeast Asian Ministers of Education

Organisation- Regional Centre for Education in

Science and Mathematics
State Education Department

TALIS Teaching and Learning International Survey

TTI Teacher Training Institute
ZPD Zone of Proximal Development

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

This chapter is about the background of the study, problem statement, objectives and research questions, as well as significance of the study. At the end, it discusses the theoretical and operational definition of terms and variables of this study.

1.2 Background of Study

Teacher education has always been a symbolically significant and crucial field of education. No matter how good the teaching aids, infrastructure or curriculum, it is the teachers who make a difference. Teachers are valuable human resources that a nation can count upon to nurture its young minds (Syed Azizi Wafa, 2003). Teachers are at the heart of the educational process. The greater the importance attached to education as a whole whether for human resource development, for cultural transmission or for social cohesion and justice, the higher is the priority that must be accorded to the teachers responsible for that education. Thus it's necessary to improve the profession they have in learning process (OECD, 2009).

1.2.1 Professional Learning

The philosophy of teacher education formulated in 1982 determined the direction of teacher education in Malaysia. The philosophy gives emphasis to the desire to produce and educate teachers who are knowledgeable and skilful, noble and caring, resilient and competent, creative and innovative, scientific in outlook, proud of their heritage, committed to upholding the aspirations of the nation and dedicated to the development of the individual and preservation of a disciplined, progressive and united society (Jamil, Razak, Raju, & Mohamed, 2011). This underlying philosophy is translated in principle to the teacher curriculum, which encourages the development of a balanced, well-rounded individual, who is a trained and skilled individual thus ensuring that the ministry aspirations are met. The Ministry of Education's (MOE) main concern is to provide pre-service as well as in-service training for its teachers in order to rear professional teachers and meet the needs of its schools. Since training is one of the best ways for improving professional learning (Hargreaves, 2000), the teacher training colleges and universities undertake the mission of teacher education and training (Jamil et al., 2011). Professional learning is a process through which teachers attain values, knowledge and skills that improve the service they prepare for students (Hoyle & John, 1995).

1.2.1.1 Pre-Service Training

Malaysian government highlighted the importance of the quality of the teaching profession for attracting better-qualified people to enter the teaching profession (Jamil *et al.*, 2011). Thus, efforts are made through improving the teacher service scheme in terms of promotional opportunities and remuneration; however the initial preparation of teachers still remains critically important in the teacher development process. Preservice programs in Malaysia are designed for the training of pre-service teachers for both primary and secondary schools. This program is conducted across all the public universities and teacher education institutions across the country, while the entry qualification and duration for admission depends on the requirements of the respective courses offered. Students have to take a compulsory course in Technology in Teaching and Learning and additional subject of computer-aided instruction which in return enables them to be proficient in the preparation and organization of ICT materials for teaching and to resource multimedia materials (Jamil *et al.*, 2011).

About thirty years ago, certificates in teaching were conferred to the teachers upon completion of a two-year pre-service training program. Twenty years ago, duration of training was extended to three years and the graduates were awarded a Diploma in teaching (Almacen, 2011). Currently, almost all teachers in primary and secondary schools have first degree qualification. Nowadays, the Malaysian professional learning of teachers consists of a professional support network, formal and informal training programs and several types of incentives and allowances. The major goal of it is to improve teacher professionalism, expand their career path, publicize their achievements, provide them with curricular support programs and improve their qualification (Petras, Jamil, & Mohamed, 2012).

1.2.1.2 In-Service Training

All teachers, including primary, secondary and even private schools, can use in-service training. Ministry of Education sends circulars to schools at the beginning of the year in order to inform teachers about offered courses. In-service course provide in-service training that enables primary and secondary school teachers as well as teacher trainers to raise their professional competencies and skills academically in their respective fields (Jamil *et al.*, 2011). It assists teachers to upgrade the current practices and development in education field consistently.

In-service programs are mainly refresher courses or updated courses. They range from two- to three-day courses to six weeks, 10 weeks and 14 weeks depending on the need of participants or the title of the course. Currently practicing teachers who are teaching subjects, for which they were not trained, undergo six to ten week conversion courses to qualify them to teach those subjects and usually they are given a certificate of participation from the respective colleges. For example, non-English trained teachers teaching English are given a six-week conversion course while teachers teaching science who are not trained in the subject undergo a 10-week conversion course. The smart school program is a 14 week course focusing on the use of ICT in teaching (Almacen, 2011). The ministry considers all states in Malaysia and in each state, committee are responsible for implementing these courses. They organize and plan all

the courses for teachers to enable them to choose from different topics such as IT, methodology, computers, counselling, etc. (Koyalan, 2011).

In-service courses are conducted at the school, district, state, and national levels organized by different education offices and divisions, departments, and institutions in the MOE, such as the Teacher Training Institutes (TTIs), Curriculum Development Centre (CDC), and also by international organizations such as Southeast Asian Ministers of Education Organisation-Regional Centre for Education in Science and Mathematics (SEAMEO-RECSAM). The TTIs conduct short courses related to pedagogy as well as enrichment courses related to the latest developments or initiatives in education to enhance teachers' professional skills and knowledge. Other than the TTIs, several agencies and departments also conduct in service teacher training programs with diverse emphases and foci (Mokshein, Ahmad, & Vongalis-Macrow, 2009). While the TTIs focus on pedagogy, generic and specific skills; the Institute Aminuddin Baki (IAB) focuses on school leadership and management; the Educational Technology Division (ETD) focuses on ICT development and training; while the State Education Departments (SEDs) and District Education Offices (DEOs) conduct courses on the implementation of policies and programs at the school level (Mokshein et al., 2009). The CDC conducts courses related to curricular change. Some of these courses are conducted at the national level, while some are at the state and district levels with the cooperation of the SEDs and DEOs. In-service courses are mandatory for teachers involved in curriculum changes or new initiatives (Mokshein et al., 2009).

Institutes of teacher training also plan and organize courses and in-service training for teachers. Most of these institutes have the Malay Studies Department, the Education Department (sociology, psychology and pedagogy), the Department of Languages (to include the English Studies Unit, the Tamil Studies Unit and the Chinese Studies Unit), the Social Studies Department, the Science and Environmental Studies Department, the Physical Education Department, the Islamic Religion and Moral Studies Department, Department of Information and Technology and the Mathematics Department (Almacen, 2011). These institutes have provided two or three day refresher courses by lecturers of different departments for in-service training. The teacher training institutes also provide six-week, 10-week and 14-week courses in various disciplines for practicing teachers. One very important in-service course is the three-year Diploma in Teaching conducted for practicing temporary teachers in schools (Almacen, 2011). Currently the MOE, through one of its teacher training colleges also provides proficiency courses in French and Japanese.

The Ministry has allocated some allowances for teachers who need to travel for these courses. Teachers can also attend seminars and workshops designed by universities and institutes. Some universities plan short- term courses, seminars and workshops in order to improve teachers' abilities and increase their personal and professional learning as well as their skills and knowledge. For instance, the school of educational studies in University Science Malaysia conducts short courses, seminars and workshops for preschool teachers. The faculty of educational studies of University Putra Malaysia conducts distance and off-shore education programs for the teachers who are busy and are not able to attend campus-based academic programs (Almacen, 2011). Teachers who teach foreign language also are trained at universities. While master and PhD courses are designed for graduates, special bachelor degree courses are conducted for non-degree teachers (Mokshein *et al.*, 2009). A one-year Special Diploma in Teaching Program is given for non-graduate teachers for upgrading their academic qualification

in their field of specialty. Non-degree teachers also have the chance of applying for normal bachelor degree programs that are conducted by universities (Mokshein *et al.*, 2009). The MOE also has provided scholarships for teachers to continue their education at postgraduate level (Masters and PhD), whether local or abroad, for improving the skills and knowledge of teachers in the fields that is related to teaching and learning specific subject areas.

Some programs are designed for critical subjects like Science, Maths, English and ICT. With the introduction of teaching Science and Mathematics in English in 2003, a curriculum support project was set up to produce teaching-learning materials for the teacher-training syllabi. A group of key teacher educators wrote material based on constructivism teaching approach to improve the teaching and learning of Science and Mathematics (Mokshein *et al.*, 2009). There are some specific programs for teachers of smart schools. The focus is on enriching teachers in pedagogical instruction specifically by using technology as an enabler to teaching. The courses have been revamped to keep in pace with the frequent development and changes in ICT. Reports have shown teachers readiness in using ICT, integrating it in teaching and learning and pedagogical improvements have been made (Asariah Binti Mior Shaharudin, 2009).

Some other programs prepared for teacher training contains an in-service course for upgrading the professionalism of teachers at remote schools, degree for a non-graduate teacher through the mode of distant learning (Open University Malaysia), an on-going short term in-service training, and a 4-week course for upgrading professionalism for teachers at indigenous schools (Jamil *et al.*, 2011). In addition, schools are patronized to conduct in-house training programs in order to enhance and improve teacher practices (Jamil *et al.*, 2011). Schools are encouraged to conduct in-house staff development programs covering a wide range of areas based on their needs (Jamil *et al.*, 2011).

The mentioned professional learning programs were all prepared by ministry of education and were in formal form. Malaysian teachers showed less experience in informal professional learning (Waheed, Salami, Ali, Dahlan, & Rahman, 2011). In a study conducted by (Idris, Loh, Nor, Razak, & Saad, 2007), the professional preparation of Malaysian teachers was examined to and results showed that many teachers perceived the need for more training. They have highlighted areas such as having more individual and collaborative activities (Idris *et al.*, 2007). Malaysian teachers also put forward the interest for more professional learning in the area of ICT education (Zakaria & Daud, 2009). Based on previous studies, the purpose of teacher training is to improve teaching practices(Welch & Gultig, 2002).

1.2.2 Teaching Practices

One of the National Key Result Areas (NKRA) in Malaysia that is identified by government is education. The NKRA includes a combination of critical long-term and

short-term priorities that are set by the government to further improve the development of the country (Saleh & Aziz, 2012). One of the main focuses of Malaysia is on students' achievement and teachers' teaching practices is an important fact in students' improvement. However, because the focus on learning has shifted from the conventional to constructivist perspective, Malaysian educators are facing serious challenges (Saleh & Aziz, 2012).

For decades, the Traditional chalk and talk methods of teaching were used in Malaysian educational system (Kasim & Furbish, 2010). In this method teaching and learning are under the control of teacher and if students attend the classes and listen to the teachers' examples and explanations, they can gain knowledge (Boumova, 2008). In this method, students learn to form good habits by producing right answers and sentences rather than making mistakes. Errors are avoided and the chance of making mistakes is reduced by memorizing and performing drills. In new era the focus of teaching and learning has been on constructivist teaching practice but due to the fact that traditional teaching method has been used for many years in Malaysia, it can't be easily abandoned (Saleh & Aziz, 2012).

Based on a study done in Malaysia in 1996, teaching style, techniques and methods were traditional and the teaching practices were based on old curriculum policy that highlights rote learning methods heavily (Saleh & Aziz, 2012). Another study conducted in many countries including Malaysia regarding teaching practices in 2008 indicated that Malaysian teachers have direct transition beliefs rather than constructivist one. On the other words, Malaysian teachers provide correct answers and transmit knowledge to the students (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 2009). Malaysian teachers reported that their classroom practices are structuring practices in which their aim is to teach in a way learning be well structured rather than effective one in which teaching is adopted to individual needs (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 2009). Although in Malaysian Education system has many excellent teachers but based on a research done in 2011, teachers only deliver 50% of lessons effectively (Ministry of Education (MOE), 2012). These lessons have a lecture format, passive content delivery and can't engage students appropriately. The lessons don't focus on higher-order thinking skills; they just focus on obtaining surface-level content (MOE, 2012). From this study, it can be concluded that, in general, most of the teaching practices applied in Malaysian schools still takes place in a condition whereby the teacher still dominates over the students. This shows that the practice of teaching in schools is still bound by traditional methods compared to more effective alternative methods (Saleh & Aziz, 2012). This is consistent with previous findings that show that teaching practices in Malaysia still centre on teachers and are bound by the traditional method (Saleh & Aziz, 2012).

1.3 Problem Statement

In many parts of the world, teaching is on the edge of a great transformation and the expectation of teachers to get their students to high levels of performance and improve their literacy is increasing (Hargreaves, 2000). This context of rapid change includes the teachers, attitude, beliefs and effectiveness (Guskey, 2014). Teachers in Malaysia

also have tried to adopt themselves with recent changes. However, despite having good understanding, knowledge, and skills of teaching content by using various methods and techniques, their teaching style is still traditional in which the emphasize is on rote learning methods (Hassan & Selamat, 2002; Saleh & Aziz, 2012). According to Saleh and Aziz (2012) some Malaysian teachers prefer to continue the role of tradition-bearers instead of being innovative and creative. Instead of effective alternative practices that require more time consuming, more creativity and more efforts, teachers' classroom behavior is traditional during learning process. In addition, in a research done by MOE (2012), teachers can't deliver the lessons very effectively. Thus, this study will attempt to determine the current level of teaching practices among secondary school teachers.

One of the main targets highlighted by Dato' Najib Razak in tenth Malaysian plan 2011-2015 was improving the quality of teachers (Waheed et al., 2011). Professional learning is one of the best ways of improving teachers' quality and keeps them up to date with new changes (Graham, 2007). So Ministry of Education has some pre-service and in-service training to improve teacher learning (MOE, 2012). However, teachers in Malaysia do not consider in-service training as productive or valuable because it is usually compulsory, developed by experts at the top, at the State Education Department or at the Ministry of Education (Kader, 2007; Malakolunthu, 2007) and content is similar to all the participants and doesn't meet individual's needs. It also does not consider teachers' background and occur in a separate setting away from real world (Khalid & Azeem, 2012). In other words, the government takes the initiation for the projects instead of schools taking the initiative in such projects (Kader, 2008). Hence the teachers and the schools are not well prepared for such projects and face many difficulties in adapting them. Since Marsick and Volpe (2001) position professional learning at the heart of adult education because of its learner centeredness and its connection to life experience, it is vital that the view to teachers' professional learning give more focus to learning among teachers which takes place in their own context (Ancess, 2001). So this study will attempt to investigate the level of teachers' informal professional learning among secondary school teachers.

While MOE has planned several formal programs for teachers' professional learning to increase their quality and improve their teaching practices, (90%) of teachers attending Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS), including Malaysia, reported a moderate or large impact of informal activities on their professional learning as a teacher (OECD, 2009). Since teachers' professional learning has positive relationship with teaching practices, this study investigates the relationship between informal professional learning with classroom teaching practices.

1.4 Objectives of the study

The main objective in this study is to study the relationship between teachers' professional learning and teaching practices. Therefore, the objectives are to:

- 1. Determine the level of teachers' professional learning in secondary schools.
- 2. Determine the difference in teachers' professional learning based on demographic variables (gender, ethnicity, highest degree, field of specialty).

- 3. Determine the relationship between teachers' professional learning and teachers' years of experience.
- 4. Determine the level of teaching practices in secondary schools.
- 5. Determine the difference in teaching practices based on demographic variables (gender, ethnicity, highest degree, field of specialty).
- 6. Determine the relationship between teaching practices and teachers' years of experience.
- 7. Determine the relationship between teachers' professional learning and teaching practices.

1.5 Research questions

According to the problem statement and research objectives in this study, the research questions are as fallow:

- 1. What is the level of teachers' professional learning in secondary schools?
- 2. Is there any difference in teachers' professional learning based on demographic variables (gender, ethnicity, the highest qualification and the field of specialty)?
- 3. Is there any relationship between teachers' professional learning and teachers' years of experience?
- 4. What is the level of teaching practices in secondary schools?
- 5. Is there any difference in teaching practices based on demographic variables (gender, ethnicity, the highest qualification and the field of specialty)?
- 6. Is there any relationship between teaching practices and teachers' years of experience?
- 7. Is there any the relationship between teachers' professional learning and teaching practices?

1.6 Significance of Study

Teachers have important role in educational system hence the quality of their work is an essential element that should be highlighted. Regarding the ideas mentioned in the problem statement (the need for having more professional learning for teachers as well as the essence for shifting classroom practices to more constructivist ones) the main role of principals to provide teachers an atmosphere for improving their profession and implement new methods in their classrooms. Thus, a special attention is needed to teachers' professional leaning that in practices would result in more effective teaching practices.

The study of professional learning according to its underlying theory which is situated learning theory is important firstly because theoretically teachers learn better when they are in the context rather than just attend in formal courses and programs. The second reason is a practical reason that teachers can reflect deeper about their classroom atmosphere and recognize students' needs and interests and through it they can implement appropriate classroom activities and subject matter that respond students'

needs. Furthermore, through interaction with colleagues, they can solve emerged problems better and attain new ideas for handling classrooms. In addition,, because of interaction with students in the classroom, the students would be able to actively engage in their own learning process and as a result improve their achievement and increase their outcome.

Teachers' classroom practice is among the concerns of every educational system since it has direct link with students' learning and achievement. So the study of constructivist teaching practices is important because theoretically students can learn better if they construct knowledge themselves and connect current knowledge with previous knowledge and experience as well as interacting with others. Thus, if teachers' activities be based on constructivist theory, the burden of learning would be shared between students and teacher and students actively engage in the process of their own learning. Practically, study of teaching practices is important because classroom is the primary place in which teachers and students interact, so what teachers do and the decision they make in this venue has significant effect on students' learning. Through constructivist classroom practices, teachers would cooperate with students in learning process and students themselves accept the responsibility of learning so they can attend classroom activities actively and build the demanded knowledge by themselves. Also, it prepares the opportunity of thinking, comprehension, reasoning and implementing for students.

The study of relationship between professional learning and teaching practices is important because teachers have dual role of teaching and learning in the classroom and this duality help teachers to act as both teacher and learner thus they would know that the way they learn is the same as the way students learn. So through providing the active context of learning for students, they help students to learn deeply. In other words, teachers use activities that include students in recognizing real world. In this way students' achievement would increase through classroom practices of a qualified teacher.

This study was conducted in the state of Selangor, one of the states of Malaysia. According to MOE (2012), this state has the most population of students, thus the results that are obtained from this state could be a valid representative of other states and the results, implications and recommendations could be generalized to all other states of Malaysia.

1.7 Limitations of Study

This study investigates the professional learning of secondary school teachers and their classroom teaching practices in the state of Selangor. While doing the research a few limitations arose. The first and the most important limitation of this study was the matter of language since the language of samples were Malay and contacting with school staff in many schools was difficult.

Since the research technique used in this study was survey, the gathered data was according to the self-report of respondents based on their views and experience;

therefore, the researcher had no control over the questions because the respondents may answer the questions in any order they like, out of order or even skip questions.

Another limitation was conducting the research at secondary schools only. In addition, the respondents were chosen from teachers rather than other staff due to the main role of teachers in the classroom. In addition, the research was performed in one of the states of Malaysia so other states were excluded due to financial and time matter. Furthermore, because the study was conducted in secondary schools, the results can't be generalized to primary schools or other educational settings of Malaysia.

Final limitation of this study was related to the validity of the instrument. The researcher conducted content validity in this study, thus it is recommended that other aspects of validity being addressed in future researches.

1.8 Definition of Terms

1.8.1 Teachers' Professional learning

Professional learning is defined as individual or collegial endeavour of teachers to develop the necessary skills and knowledge for improving their classroom practices and adapting to innovations like curriculum (Moore & Shaw, 2000).

In this study, professional learning refers to how often teachers engage in professional learning activities in terms of individual, collaborative and using ICT to improve their skills and knowledge. Professional learning encompasses 3 types namely individual learning, collaborative learning and learning using ICT. In this study professional learning is measured through 20 items based on the work of Kwakman (2003).

In this study, individual learning refers to the process of attaining knowledge and information through reading, experimenting and reflecting individually. Collaborative learning refers to learning through sharing the ideas and helping each other to solve the problems of the classroom and learning using ICT refers to teachers' learning through using internet, for example searching for documents, information, sources, etc.

1.8.2 Teaching Practices

According to Mesiti (2011) teaching practices are the designs or plans of action, including instructional methods or activities a teacher carries out within the classroom.

In this study teaching practices refer to what extent teachers implement effective teaching practices according to constructivist teaching approach. Teaching practices are measured through these four subscales by 44 questions based on the work of Greer (1997).

In this study, teaching practices consist of four dimensions of community of learners, teaching strategies, learning activities and curriculum-assessment. Community of learners refers to a group of students who share values and beliefs with teacher and

other peers and they actively engage in learning from one another. Teaching strategies refer to teacher's perception of their primary role and its influence on their instructional decisions; teachers' modification of the lesson to meet individual student's need and teacher's awareness of students' conceptual understanding. Leaning activities refer to activities provided by teacher for students for the purpose of acquiring certain skills, concepts, or knowledge. These activities could be classroom discussion, lecture presentation, doing assignments, etc. in this study curriculum refers to the content, the way it is developed, taught and organized. Assessment refers to measuring students' performance and come to conclusion according to the results.



BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adams, P. (2006). Exploring social constructivism: Theories and practicalities. *Taylor & Francis*, 34(3), 243-257.
- AITSL, A. I. f. T. a. S. L. (2014). Global trends in Professional Learning and Performance & Development. Australia: The Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership (AITSL)
- Alghazo, E. M. (2005). Special education teacher perceptions towards effective instructional practices in the United Arab Emirates (UAE). *Teacher Education and Special Education: The Journal of the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children*, 28(3-4), 221-229.
- Alkharusi, H. (2008). Effects of classroom assessment practices on students' achievement goals. *Educational assessment*, 13(4), 243-266.
- Almacen, B. (2011). *Teachers Training Program: The Malaysian Perspective*. Faculty of Education, Department of Educational Management, Planning and Policy, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: University of Malaya.
- Ambler, T. B. (2012). Autobiographical vignettes: a medium for teachers' professional learning through self-study and reflection. *Teacher Development*, 16(2), 181-197.
- Anagnou, E., & Fragoulis, I. (2014). The Contribution of Mentoring and Action Research to Teachers' Professional Development in the Context of Informal Learning. *Review of European Studies*, 6(1), 133-139.
- Ancess, J. (2001). Teacher learning at the intersection of school learning and student outcomes. In A. Lieberman & L. Miller (Eds.), *Teachers caught in the action: Professional development that matters.* (pp. 61-78). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Anderson, S., Leithwood, K., & Seashore Louis, K. (2012). Data use: An exploration from the district
- to the school. In L. K. S. Louis (Ed.), *Linking Leadership to student learning* (pp. 158-180). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Applefield, J. M., Huber, R., & Moallem, M. (2001). Constructivism in theory and practice: Toward a better understanding. *High School Journal*, 84(2), 35-53.
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L., Sorensen, C., & Walker, D. (2013). *Introduction to research in education*. United States: Cengage Learning.
- Asariah Binti Mior Shaharudin, L. W. H., Lam Kah Kei, Choong Lean Keow (2009). The next generation of teachers: The Malaysian perspective. Paper presented

- at the 13th UNESCO-APEID international conference on education and world bank-keris high level seminar on ICT in education, Bankok, Thailand.
- Avalos, B. (2011). Teacher professional development in Teaching and Teacher Education over ten years. *Teaching and teacher education*, 27(1), 10-20.
- Baccus, A. A. (2004). Urban fourth and fifth grade teachers' reading attitudes and efficacy beliefs: Relationships to reading instruction and to students' reading attitudes and efficacy beliefs. 3123161 Ph.D., University of Maryland, College Park, Ann Arbor. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/305174314?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database.
- Bakkenes, I., Vermunt, J. D., & Wubbels, T. (2010). Teacher learning in the context of educational innovation: Learning activities and learning outcomes of experienced teachers. *Learning and instruction*, 20(6), 533-548.
- Barak, M. (2006). Instructional principles for fostering learning with ICT: teachers' perspectives as learners and instructors. *Education and information technologies*, 11(2), 121-135.
- Bartlett, A. (2005). "She Seems Nice": Teaching Evaluations and Gender Trouble. *Feminist Teacher*, 15(3), 195-202.
- Barton, H. (2005). *The impact of the new opportunities fund (nof) ict in subject teaching training programme*. U205082 Ed.D., University of Leicester (United Kingdom), Ann Arbor. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/301655744?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database.
- Bay, E., Bagceci, B., & Cetin, B. (2012). The Effects of Social Constructivist Approach on the Learners' Problem Solving and Metacognitive Levels. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 8(3), 343-349.
- Beavers, H., Collins-Eaglin, J., Green, D., Nathan, G., & Wolfe, K. (2002). From Theory to Practice:Behaviorist Principles of Learning and Instruction. Detroit: Wayne State University.
- Beetham, H., & Sharpe, R. (2013). *Rethinking pedagogy for a digital age: Designing for 21st century learning* (2nd ed.). United Kingdom: routledge.
- Beijaard, D., Verloop, N., & Vermunt, J. D. (2000). Teachers' perceptions of professional identity: An exploratory study from a personal knowledge perspective. *Teaching and teacher education*, 16(7), 749-764.
- Best, J., & Kahn, J. (2005). Research in education. Boston: Pearson/Allyn and Bacon.
- Bietenbeck, J.-C. (2011). *Jan-Christoph Bietenbeck* Centro de Estudios Monetarios y Financieros, Madrid

- Black, G. (2009). Teacher Professional Learning: Planning for Change Australia: Education.au
- Blackmon, L. (2013). Teachers' Perceptions of Professional Development Activities which Result in Successful Integration of Classroom Instructional Technologies. Georgia Southern University, Georgia.
- Blazer, C. (2005). Literature review on professional development for teachers (Vol. 15, pp. 20). Florida: Miami-Dade County Public Schools.
- Borko, H. (2004). Professional development and teacher learning: Mapping the terrain. *Educational researcher*, 33(8), 3-15.
- Boumova, V. (2008). *Traditional vs. Modern Teaching Methods: Advantages and Disadvantages of Each.* Master, Masaryk University, Czech.
- Bradburn, N. M., Sudman, S., Blair, E., Locander, W., Miles, C., Singer, E., & Stocking, C. (1979). Improving interview method and questionnaire design:

 Response effects to threatening questions in survey research. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Brent, W. (2010). Uses of technology to support reflective teaching practices. PhD, The University of Arizona, Arizona. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304677601?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database.
- Broad, K., & Evans, M. (2006). A review of literature on professional development content and delivery modes for experienced teachers. University of Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Brooks, J. G., & Brooks, M. G. (1999). *In search of understanding: The case for constructivist classrooms*. New York: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Brown, A. L. (1994). The advancement of learning. *Educational researcher*, 23(8), 4-12.
- Brown, J., Collins, A., & Duguid, P. (1989). Situated cognition and the culture of learning. *Educational researcher*, 18(1), 32-42.
- Brown, J. C. (2006). A case study of a school implementing a constructivist philosophy. PhD, University of South Florida, Florida.
- Bruce, C. D., Esmonde, I., Ross, J., Dookie, L., & Beatty, R. (2010). The effects of sustained classroom-embedded teacher professional learning on teacher efficacy and related student achievement. *Teaching and teacher education*, 26(8), 1598-1608.
- Burrell, B. J. (2005). Bear witness: African American teachers' perspectives of their teaching practices in segregated and desegregated schools. PhD, The

- University of Texas at Austin, Texas. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/305386848?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database.
- Burry-Stock, J. A., & Oxford, R. L. (1994). Expert science teaching educational evaluation model (ESTEEM): Measuring excellence in science teaching for professional development. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education*, 8(3), 267-297.
- Byra, M., & Sherman, M. A. (1993). Preactive and interactive decision-making tendencies of less and more experienced preservice teachers. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 64(1), 46-55.
- Calhoun, E. F. (1994). *How To Use Action Research in the Self-Renewing School*. United States: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Campoli, A. J. (2011). A Critical Analysis of Job-Embedded Professional Learning within a Distributed Leadership Framework: ERIC.
- Carroll, J., & Ryan, J. (2005). *Teaching international students: Improving learning for all*. New York: Routledge.
- Chen, W. (1997). Differences between constructivist-oriented teaching practices of expert and novice teachers in elementary physical education. PhD, The University of Alabama, Alabama. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304336682?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text database.
- Chen, W., & Rovegno, I. (2000). Examination of expert and novice teachers' constructivist-oriented teaching practices using a movement approach to elementary physical education. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 71(4), 357-372.
- Choi, J.-I., & Hannafin, M. (1995). Situated cognition and learning environments: Roles, structures, and implications for design. Educational Technology Research and Development, 43(2), 53-69.
- Clancey, W. J. (1995). A tutorial on situated learning. Paper presented at the International Conference on Computers and Education Taiwan.
- Cobb, P. (1994). Constructivism in mathematics and science education. *Educational researcher*, 23(7), 1-4.
- Cohen, D. (1988). Teaching practice: Plus ça change. In R. Floden & M. Lampert (Eds.). Michigan National Center for Research on Teacher Education.
- Cohen, J. (1992). Statistical power analysis. Sage Publications, 1(3), 98-101.
- Colby, S. A., & Stapleton, J. N. (2006). Preservice teachers teach writing: Implications for teacher educators. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 45(4), 353-376.

- Cole, P. (2012). Linking Effective Professional Learning with Effective Teaching Practice. Australia: Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership
- Cooper, L. (2014). Leading Teacher Learning & Change in the Professional Learning Community: One School's Transformation Towards Implementing Meaningful PLCs.
- Corley, M. A. (2011). Adult Learning Theories. U.S.: The Teaching Excellence in Adult Literacy (TEAL)
- Courtney, S., Speck, S., & Holtorf, P. (1996). *The impact of motivation, volition, and classroom context on adult learning*. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Fifteenth Annual Midwest Research-to-Practice Conference in Adult, Continuing, & Community Education, Nebraska.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. California: Sage Publication.
- Cunningham, M., & Hargreaves, L. (2007). Minority ethnic teachers' professional experiences. Nottingham, England: University of Cambridge.
- D'Amico, L., & Stein, M. (2002). Inquiry at the crossroads of policy and learning: A study of a district-wide literacy initiative. *The Teachers College Record*, 104(7), 1313-1344.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2008). Teacher learning that supports student learning. *Teaching for intelligence*, 2(5), 91-100.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (2007). Preparing teachers for a changing world: What teachers should learn and be able to do. United States: Jossey-Bass
- Darling-Hammond, L., & McLaughlin, M. W. (1995). Policies that support professional development in an era of reform. *Phi delta kappan*, 76(8), 597-604.
- Dawson, K., Cavanaugh, C., & Ritzhaupt, A. D. (2008). Florida's EETT leveraging laptops initiative and its impact on teaching practices. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 41(2), 143-159.
- Day, C., & Gu, Q. (2007). Variations in the conditions for teachers' professional learning and development: sustaining commitment and effectiveness over a career. *Oxford Review of Education*, *33*(4), 423-443.
- de Laat, M. (2012). Enabling professional development networks: How connected are you? Netherlands: Open University
- De Vries, S., Jansen, E. P., & van de Grift, W. J. (2013). Profiling teachers' continuing professional development and the relation with their beliefs about learning and teaching. *Teaching and teacher education*, *33*(2013), 78-89.

- Dede, C. (2007). Reinventing the role of information and communications technologies in education. *Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education*, 106(2), 11-38.
- DeMatthews, D. E. (2014). Principal and teacher collaboration: An exploration of distributed leadership in professional learning communities. *IJELM-International Journal of Educational Leadership and Management*, 2(2), 176-206.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2011). Distribution of Ethnicity in Malaysia. from Department of Statistics, Malaysia http://www.statistics.gov.my/
- Desimone, L. M. (2009). Improving impact studies of teachers' professional development: Toward better conceptualizations and measures. *Educational researcher*, 38(3), 181-199.
- Desimone, L. M., Porter, A. C., Garet, M. S., Yoon, K. S., & Birman, B. F. (2002). Effects of professional development on teachers' instruction: Results from a three-year longitudinal study. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 24(2), 81-112.
- Dewey, J. (1916). *Democracy and education* (2005 ed.). New York: Barnes & Noble Books.
- Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and education. United States: Simon and Schuster.
- Dewey, J. (1997). How we think. New York: Dover Publications.
- Di Benedetto, O. (2005). Does technology influence teaching practices in the classroom. Paper presented at the National Educational Computing Conference 2005 Conference Philadelphia, PA. Retrieved June.
- Elmore, R. F. (2002). Bridging the gap between standards and achievement: The imperative for professional development in education. *Albert Shanker Institute*, 39(4), 1-17.
- Eraut, M. (2000). Non-formal learning and tacit knowledge in professional work. British Journal of Educational Psychology, 70(1), 113-136.
- Erdogan, I., & Campbell, T. (2008). Teacher questioning and interaction patterns in classrooms facilitated with differing levels of constructivist teaching practices. *International Journal of Science Education*, 30(14), 1891-1914.
- Eze, R. I., & Oluso.Adu, E. (2013). *The teachers and the use of ICT for professional development*. Paper presented at the International Conference on ICT for Africa Zimbabwe.
- Faure, S. (2000). Introduction to mentoring: IM/IT community. Retrieved from the World Wide Web: http://www.cio-dpi.gc.ca/orobgc/devprog/mentor/2000-09/mentoring/mentoring-e.pdf

- Ferdinand, J. (2007). Teachers' effectiveness and internal efficiency in primary Education. *Research and Curriculum Studies*, 2(11), 2-6.
- Fischer, C., & Pribesh, S. (2012). Community of Learners. United States: Springer.
- Fishman, B. J., Marx, R. W., Best, S., & Tal, R. T. (2003). Linking teacher and student learning to improve professional development in systemic reform. *Teaching and teacher education*, 19(6), 643-658.
- Flamini, R. V. (2010). A case study of principal leadership in guiding school and classroom instructional practices in an urban school of diversity: Arcadia University.
- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E., & Hyun, H. H. (2012). *How to design and evaluate research in education* (8th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Freitas, I. M., Jimenez, R., & Mellado, V. (2004). Solving physics problems: The conceptions and practice of an experienced teacher and an inexperienced teacher. *Research in Science Education*, *34*(1), 113-133.
- Fucoloro, D. J. (2012). Educators' perceptions and reported behaviors associated with participation in informal, online professional development networks. PhD, Louis University, Chicago.
- Garet, M. S., Porter, A. C., Desimone, L., Birman, B. F., & Yoon, K. S. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Results from a national sample of teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(4), 915-945.
- Gay, L., Mills, G. E., & Airasian, P. (2011). *Educational research: Competencies for analysis and applications* (10th ed.). Boston: Addison Wesley.
- Geijsel, F., Sleegers, P., van den Berg, R., & Kelchtermans, G. (2001). Conditions fostering the implementation of large-scale innovation programs in schools: Teachers' perspectives. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 37(1), 130-166.
- Glatthorn, A. (1995). Teacher development. In L. W. Anderson (Ed.), *International encyclopedia of teaching and teacher education* (2nd ed., pp. 41-46). London: Pergamon Press.
- Glenn, C. V. (2007). The relationship between epistemological beliefs and effective teaching practices among elementary school teachers. PhD, University of Toronto (Canada), Toronto. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304757498?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database.
- Goddard, Y., Goddard, R., & Tschannen-Moran, M. (2007). A theoretical and empirical investigation of teacher collaboration for school improvement and student achievement in public elementary schools. *The Teachers College Record*, 109(4), 877-896.

- Graham, P. (2007). Improving Teacher Effectiveness through Structured Collaboration:
 A Case Study of a Professional Learning Community. *RMLE Online:*Research in Middle Level Education, 31(1), 1-17.
- Greeno, J. G. (1997). On claims that answer the wrong questions. *Educational* researcher, 26(1), 5-17.
- Greeno, J. G., & van de Sande, C. (2007). Perspectival understanding of conceptions and conceptual growth in interaction. *Educational Psychologist*, 42(1), 9-23.
- Greenwell, S. M. (2009). An exploratory case study comparing the teaching practices of reading endorsed vs. non-reading endorsed secondary English language arts teachers. PhD, University of Central Florida, Florida. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/305097589?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database.
- Greer, M. A. (1997). *Measuring constructivist teaching practices in first and third grades*. PhD, The University of Toledo, Ohio. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304391541?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text database.
- Guskey, T. (2014). Evaluating Professional Learning. In S. Billett, C. Harteis & H. Gruber (Eds.), *International Handbook of Research in Professional and Practice-based Learning* (pp. 1215-1235): Springer Netherlands.
- Guskey, T. R. (2000). Evaluating professional development. California: Corwin Press.
- Hargreaves, A. (2000). Four ages of professionalism and professional learning. *Teachers and Teaching: theory and practice*, 6(2), 151-182.
- Hargreaves, D. H. (1997). In defence of research for evidence-based teaching: a rejoinder to Martyn Hammersley. *British Educational Research Journal*, 23(4), 405-419.
- Hargreaves, E., & Preece, S. (2014). The value of the personal in teachers' professional learning: a case study. *Professional development in education*, 40(1), 130-146.
- Harkins, M. J. (2009). Teachers' Perceptions of their Cultural Competencies: An Investigation into the Relationships among Teacher Characteristics and Cultural Competence. Canada: Mount Saint Vincent University.
- Harwell, S. H. (2003). Teacher professional development: It's not an event, it's a process (pp. 2004). Florida: Center for Occupational Research Directory.
- Hassan, F., & Selamat, N. F. (2002). Why aren't students proficient in ESL: The teachers' perspective. *The English Teacher*, 31, 107-123.
- Henze, I., van Driel, J. H., & Verloop, N. (2009). Experienced science teachers' learning in the context of educational innovation. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 60(2), 184-199.

- Ho, A., Watkins, D., & Kelly, M. (2001). The conceptual change approach to improving teaching and learning: An evaluation of a Hong Kong staff development programme. *Higher Education*, 42(2), 143-169.
- Hoekstra, A., Beijaard, D., Brekelmans, M., & Korthagen, F. (2007). Experienced teachers' informal learning from classroom teaching. *Teachers and Teaching: theory and practice,* 13(2), 191-208.
- Hogan, T., Rabinowitz, M., & Craven, J. A. (2003). Representation in teaching: Inferences from research of expert and novice teachers. *Educational Psychologist*, 38(4), 235-247.
- Holmes, A., Vargas, J. D., Swan, K., Jennings, S., Meier, E., & Rubenfeld, L. (2002). Situated professional development and technology integration: The capital area technology and inquiry in education (CATIE) mentoring program. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 10(2), 169-190.
- Honan, E., Evans, T., Muspratt, S., Paraide, P., Reta, M., & Baroutsis, A. (2012). Implementing a new model for teachers' professional learning in Papua New Guinea. *Professional development in education*, 38(5), 725-740.
- Horn, B. E. (2004). The relationship between "high stakes" testing and professional development programs. PhD, University of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/305145519?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text database.
- Howard, J. M. (2010). The value of ethnic diversity in the teaching profession: A New Zealand case study. *International Journal of Education*, 2(1), 1-11.
- Hoyle, E., & John, P. D. (1995). *Professional knowledge and professional practice*: Cassell London.
- Hung, H.-L., & Hyun, E. (2010). East Asian international graduate students' epistemological experiences in an American university. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 34(4), 340-353.
- Hustler, D. (2003). Teachers' perceptions of continuing professional development (Vol. 429). Manchester: Manchester Metropolitan University
- Hutton, M. K. L. (2011). Teachers' perceptions toward required and self-directed professional learning: THE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN MISSISSIPPI.
- Idris, N., Loh, S., Nor, N. M., Razak, A. Z. A., & Saad, R. M. (2007). The professional preparation of Malaysian teachers in the implementation of teaching and learning of mathematics and science in English. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education*, 3(2), 101-110.
- Ilomaki, L. (2008). The effects of ICT on school: teachers' and students' perspectives: University of Turku Turku.

- Ilomäki, L., Hakkarainen, K., Lakkala, M., Rahikainen, M., Lipponen, L., & Lehtinen, E. (2002). Uses of New Technology Across Genders and Generations: Comparing the Development of Students' And Teachers' ICT Skills and Practices of Using ICT. In K. Fernstrom (Ed.), Proceedings of Third Conference on Information Communication Technologies in Education. Athens: National and Kapodistrian University of Athens.
- Iran-Nejad, A. (1994). The Global Coherence Context in Educational Practice: A Comparison Piecemeal and Whole-Theme Approaches to Learning and Teaching. *Research in the Schools*, *1*(1), 63-76.
- Israel, G. D. (1992). Determining sample size. Florida: University of Florida
- Jabatan Pendidikan Negeri Selangor. (2014). Statistics of Gender Distribution of Teachers in Selangor, Malaysia. from JPN http://jpnselangor.moe.gov.my/
- Jackson, A. W., & Davis, G. A. (2000). Turning Points 2000: Educating adolescents in the 21st century. North Dakota, United States: Teachers College Press, 2000.
- Jacobson, W. (1996). Learning, culture, and learning culture. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 47(1), 15-28.
- Jamil, H., Razak, N. A., Raju, R., & Mohamed, A. R. (2011). Teacher Professional Development in Malaysia: Issues and Challenges. Malaysia: Universiti Sains Malaysia.
- Jarvis, P. (2012). Adult learning in the social context. United States: Rotledge.
- Jeffs, T., & Smith, M. K. (2010). Youth work practice. United States: Palgrave Macmillan.
- John, P. D., & Sutherland, R. (2004). Teaching and learning with ICT: new technology, new pedagogy? *Education, Communication & Information*, 4(1), 101-107.
- Johnson, R. D. (2011). A study of the impact of professional development on teacher attitude toward writing and implementation of writing strategies. PhD, Texas A&M University Commerce, Texas. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/916916699?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text database.
- Jones, M. G., & Brader-Araje, L. (2002). The impact of constructivism on education: Language, discourse, and meaning. *American Communication Journal*, *5*(3), 1-10.
- Jordan, A., & Stanovich, P. (2003). Teachers' personal epistemological beliefs about students with disabilities as indicators of effective teaching practices. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 3(1).

- Joyce, B., & Showers, B. (2002). Designing training and peer coaching: Our needs for learning. Retrieved from: http://www.ncsl.org.uk/mediastore/image2/randd-engaged-joyce.pdf
- Kader, B. K. A. (2008). Malaysi'a experience in training teachers to use ICT. ICT in teacher Education: Case studies from the Asia Pacific region. Bangkok: UNESCO publication.
- Kader, B. K. B. A. (2007). 2. Malaysia's Experience in Training Teachers to Use ICT. In E. Meleisea (Ed.), *ICT in Teacher Education: Case Studies from the Asia-Pacific Region* (pp. 10). Bangkok: UNESCO
- Kasim, T. S. A. T., & Furbish, D. (2010). *Transforming Malaysian Teacher Education* for a sustainable future through student-centred learning. Paper presented at the Australian Teacher Education Association Conference, Townsville Australia.
- Kelly, A. V. (2009). The curriculum: Theory and practice. London: Sage Publications
- Khalid, A., & Azeem, M. (2012). Constructivist Vs Traditional: Effective instructional approach in teacher education. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 2(5), 170-177.
- Khalid, F., Joyes, G., Ellison, L., & Karim, A. (2013). Teachers' Involvement in Communities of Practice: An Implication with Regard to the Current Approach of Teachers' Professional Development in Malaysia. *Asian Social Science*, 9(16).
- Kim, Y. S., & Merriam, S. B. (2010). Situated learning and identity development in a Korean older adults' computer classroom. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 60(5), 438-455.
- King, B. M., & Newmann, F. M. (2000). Will Teacher Learning Advance School Goals? *Phi delta kappan*, 81(8), 576-580.
- King, M. B., & Newmann, F. M. (2001). Building school capacity through professional development: Conceptual and empirical considerations. *International journal of educational management*, *15*(2), 86-94.
- Knight, J. (2002). Crossing Boundaries: What Constructivists Can Teach Intensive-Explicit Instructors and Vice Versa. *Focus on exceptional children*, 35(4), 1-16.
- Knowles, M. (1996). Adult Learning. In R. L. Craig (Ed.), *The ASTD Training and Development Handbook* (pp. 253-264). NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Knowles, M. S. (1950). *Informal adult education*. New York: Association Press.
- Knowles, M. S. (1975). Self-directed learning: Association Press New York.

- Koballa, T. R., Glynn, S. M., & Upson, L. (2005). Conceptions of teaching science held by novice teachers in an alternative certification program. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 16(4), 287-308.
- Koyalan, A. (2011). Cross-cultural reflections of teacher trainers on in-service
- training. Contemporary Online Language Education Journal, 1(1), 130-143.
- Krejcie, R. V., & Morgan, D. W. (1970). *Determining sample size for research activities*. United States: National Emergency Training Center.
- Kuzborska, I. (2011). Links between teachers' beliefs and practices and research on reading. *Reading in a Foreign Language*, 23(1), 102-128.
- Kwakman, K. (2003). Factors affecting teachers' participation in professional learning activities. *Teaching and teacher education*, 19(2), 149-170.
- Lave, J. (1988). *Cognition in Practice: Mind, Mathematics and Culture in Everyday Life.* United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. United Kingdom: Cambridge university press.
- Leithwood, K., Anderson, S. E., Mascall, B., Strauss, T., Bush, T., Bell, L., & Middlewood, D. (2010). School leaders' influences on student learning: The four paths. *The principles of educational leadership and management, 17*(6), 13-30.
- Lemke, C., & Lesley, B. (2009). The Impact of Online Collaborative Learning on Educators and Classroom Practices. Virginia Cisco Systems.
- Lepik, M., Pipere, A., & Hannula, M. S. (2013). Comparing Mathematics Teachers' Beliefs about Good Teaching: the Cases of Estonia, Latvia and Finland. *Thinking and reasoning*, 3(918), 177-198.
- Lieberman, A. (1995). Practices That Support Teacher Development: Transforming Conceptions of Professional Learning. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 76(8), 591-596.
- Lin, R., Xie, J., Jeng, Y.-C., & Huang, S. (2010). The relationship between teacher quality and teaching effectiveness perceived by students from industrial vocational high schools. *Asian Journal of Arts and Sciences*, 1(2), 167-187.
- Little, J. (2003). Inside teacher community: Representations of classroom practice. *The Teachers College Record*, *105*(6), 913-945.
- Little, J. W. (1993). Teachers' professional development in a climate of educational reform. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 15(2), 129-151.
- Liu, C. C., & Chen, I. J. (2010). Evolution of constructivism. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research (CIER)*, 3(4), 63-66.

- Lortie, D. C. (2002). *Schoolteacher: A sociological study*. United States: University of Chicago Press Chicago.
- Loucks-Horsley, S., Stiles, K. E., Mundry, S., Love, N., & Hewson, P. W. (2009). Designing professional development for teachers of science and mathematics: Corwin Press.
- Madsen, A. J. (2005). Where is the "self" in teacher self-assessment? An examination of teachers' reflection and assessment practices in relation to their teaching practices. 3200442 Ph.D., Iowa State University, Ann Arbor. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304988756?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database.
- Malakolunthu, S. (2007). *Teacher learning in Malaysia: Problems and possibilities of reform* (Vol. 1). Malaysia: University of Malaya Press.
- Marsick, V. J. (2009). Toward a unifying framework to support informal learning theory, research and practice. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 21(4), 265-275.
- Marsick, V. J., & Volpe, M. (2001). The nature and need for informal learning. *Advances in developing human resources*, 1(3), 1-9.
- Marzano, R. J. (2012). Marzano School Leadership Evaluation Model. Retrieved from: www.dpi.state.nd.us/ESEA/teacher/Principal Marzano ESSI.pdf
- Matthews, W. J. (2003). Constructivism in the Classroom: Epistemology, History, and Empirical Evidence. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 30(3), 51-64.
- McDougall, D., Saunders, W. M., & Goldenberg, C. (2007). Inside the black box of school reform: Explaining the how and why of change at Getting Results schools. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 54(1), 51-89.
- Mellado, V., Bermejo, M. L., Blanco, L. J., & Ruiz, C. (2008). The classroom practice of a prospective secondary biology teacher and his conceptions of the nature of science and of teaching and learning science. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 6(1), 37-62.
- Melville, W., & Wallace, J. (2007). Workplace as community: Perspectives on science teachers' professional learning. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 18(4), 543-558.
- Merriam, S. B., Caffarella, R. S., & Baumgartner, L. M. (2012). *Learning in adulthood: A comprehensive guide* (3rd ed.). Michigan: John Wiley & Sons.
- Mesiti, R. A. (2011). Foreign language professors' reports of the teaching practices they deliberately use to develop students' cultural intelligence. PhD, University of Hartford, The United States. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/86556959?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text database.

- Mezirow, J. (1997). Transformative learning: Theory to practice. *New directions for adult and continuing education*, 1997(74), 5-12.
- Mezirow, J. (2000). Learning as transformation: Critical perspectives on a theory in progress. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Milner, A. R. (2008). The effects of constructivist classroom contextual factors in a life science laboratory and a traditional science classroom on elementary students' motivation and learning strategies: ProQuest.
- Ministry of Education (MOE). (2012). Preliminary Report: Malaysia Education Blueprint 2013-2025. Malaysia: Ministry of Education.
- Mockler, N. (2013). Teacher professional learning in a neoliberal age: Audit, professionalism and identity. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 38(10), 3.
- Mokshein, S. E., Ahmad, H. H., & Vongalis-Macrow, A. (2009). Towards providing quality secondary education: training and retaining quality teachers in Malaysia. Bankok: UNESCO.
- Moore, S., & Shaw, P. (2000). The Professional Learning Needs and Perceptions of Secondary School Teachers: Implications for Professional Learning Community. Canada: Anual Meting of the American Educational Research Asociation.
- Morgan, B. M. (2000). Cooperative Learning: Teacher Use and Social Integration (Vol. 7). Texas: The University of Texas.
- Moyle, K. (2006). Leadership and learning with ICT. Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership 21(1), 9-15.
- Odunaike, K., Ijaduola, K., & Epetimehin, F. (2013). Teachers' Gender and Professional Achievements in Secondary Schools. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science* 3(1), 125-129.
- Onyekuru, B., & Ibegbunam, J. O. (2013). Teaching Effectiveness of Secondary School Teachers in Emohua Local Government Area of Rivers State, Nigeria. *European Scientific Journal*, 9(28).
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2009). Creating Effective Teaching and Learning Environments. France: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).
- Pallant, J. (2010). SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using SPSS (4th ed.). England: McGraw-Hill.
- Palmer, D. (2005). A motivational view of constructivist-informed teaching. International Journal of Science Education, 27(15), 1853-1881.

- Parise, L. M., & Spillane, J. P. (2010). Teacher learning and instructional change: How formal and on-the-job learning opportunities predict change in elementary school teachers' practice. *The Elementary School Journal*, 110(3), 323-346.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). London: Sage publications.
- Petras, C.-L. M. (2010). A descriptive study of science and mathematics teachers pedagogy, ICT use and perceptions of how ICT impacts their teaching. 3404309 Ed.D., Pepperdine University, Ann Arbor. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/499976694?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database.
- Petras, Y., Jamil, H., & Mohamed, A. R. (2012). How do teachers learn? A study on the policy and practice of teacher professional development in Malaysia. *KEDI Journal of Educational Policy*, 9(1).
- Piaget, J. (1974). Biology and knowledge: An essay on the relations between organic regulations and cognitive processes. Chicago.
- Powney, J., Hall, S., Davidson, J., Kirk, S., Wilson, V., Edward, S., & Mirza, H. (2003). *Teachers' Careers: the impact of age, disability, ethnicity, gender and sexual orientation*. London: Department for Education and Skills/The Scottish Council for Research in Education.
- Putnam, R. T., & Borko, H. (2000). What do new views of knowledge and thinking have to say about research on teacher learning? *Educational researcher*, 29(1), 4-15.
- Quaintance, J. L. (2006). Constructivist pedagogy in teacher education: A case study. PhD Ph.D., The University of Kansas, Kansas. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/305319590?accountid=27932 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text database.
- Ramlee, M., & Greenan, J. P. (2002). The Role of Vocational Education in Economic Development in Malaysia: Educator's and Employers' Perspectives. *Journa of Industria Teacher Education*, 39(2), 73-81.
- Reyes, S. A., & Vallone, T. L. (2007). *Constructivist strategies for teaching English language learners*. United States: Corwin Press.
- Richardson, V. (2003). Constructivist pedagogy. *The Teachers College Record*, 105(9), 1623-1640.
- Richter, D., Kunter, M., Klusmann, U., Ludtke, O., & Baumert, J. (2011). Professional development across the teaching career: Teachers' uptake of formal and informal learning opportunities. *Teaching and teacher education*, 27(1), 116-126.

- Robinson, V. (2011). Student centered leadership (1st ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Rodriguez, A. G., & McKay, S. (2010). Professional Development for Experienced Teachers Working with Adult English Language Learners. from Center for Adult English Language Acquisition (CAELA) http://www.cal.org/caelanetwork/pdfs/ExpTeachersFinalWeb.pdf
- Rogoff, B. (1994). Developing understanding of the idea of communities of learners. *Mind, culture, and activity, 1*(4), 209-229.
- Rogoff, B., Matusov, E., & White, C. (1996). *Models of teaching and learning: Participation in a community of learners*. United Kingdom: Oxford.
- Roustaee, R., Kadir, S. A., & Asimiran, S. (2014). A Review of Constructivist Teaching Practices. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research*, 19(19), 145-152.
- Runhaar, P. R. (2008). *Promoting teachers' professional development*. London: University of Twente.
- Rytivaara, A., & Kershner, R. (2012). Co-teaching as a context for teachers' professional learning and joint knowledge construction. *Teaching and teacher education*, 28(7), 999-1008. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2012.05.006
- Saleh, S., & Aziz, A. (2012). Teaching Practices Among Secondary School Teachers in Malaysia. *International Proceedings of Economics Development & Research*, 47, 63-66.
- Sankaran, S., Dick, B., Passfield, R., & Swepson, P. (2001). Effective change management using action research and action learning: concepts, frameworks, processes and applications: Southern Cross University Press, Lismore.
- Sato, M., Wei, R. C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2008). Improving teachers' assessment practices through professional development: The case of National Board Certification. *American Educational Research Journal*, 45(3), 669-700.
- Saunders, W., & Goldenberg, C. (2005). The contribution of settings to school improvement and school change: A case study. *Culture and context in human behavior change: Theory, research, and applications, 14*(7), 127-150.
- Scott, C., & Sutton, R. E. (2009). Emotions and Change During Professional Development for Teachers A Mixed Methods Study. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 3(2), 151-171.
- Shapiro, B. L. (1994). What Children Bring to Light: A Constructivist Perspective on Children's Learning in Science. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Shaughnessy, J. J., Zechmeister, E. B., & Zechmeister, J. S. (2011). *Research Methods in Psychology* (9th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill

- Shor, I. (1996). When students have power: Negotiating authority in a critical pedagogy. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Showers, B., & Joyce, B. (1996). The evolution of peer coaching. *Educational leadership*, 53(3), 12-16.
- Skaalid, B. (2007). A developmental study concerning the design and implementation of constructivist learning environments. PhD, University of Alberta (Canada), Alberta.

 Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304794687?accountid=27932
 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text database.
- Skinner, B. F. (1953). *Scieence and Humen Behavior*. United States: The Macmillan Company.
- Spillane, J. P. (2012). *Distributed leadership* (Vol. 4). London: John Wiley & Sons.
- Stein, D. (1998). Situated Learning in Adult Education. *ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult Career and Vocational Education Columbus* 195(6), 1-4.
- Stiles, K. E., Loucks-Horsley, S., Mundry, S., Hewson, P. W., & Love, N. (2009).

 Designing professional development for teachers of science and mathematics.

 United States: Sage Publications.
- Stoll, L. (2011). Leading professional learning communities. In J. R. H. Timperley (Ed.), *Leadership and Learning* (pp. 103-117). London: Sage Publications Ltd. .
- Supovitz, J. (2002). Developing communities of instructional practice. *The Teachers College Record*, 104(8), 1591-1626.
- Syed Azizi Wafa, R., T., & Tan, M. Y. . (2003). Malaysian Teacher: A Study Of The Factors Associated With Work Attitudes. http://www.management.usm.my/ramayah/publication/5Cjournals5.doc
- Taylor, P., & Fraser, B. (1991). *CLES: An instrument for assessing constructivist learning environment*. Paper presented at the National Association for Research in Science Teaching Wisconsin.
- Taylor, P., Fraser, B., & White, L. (1994). A classroom environment questionnaire for science educators interested in the constructivist reform of school science. Paper presented at the Association for Research in Sccience Teaching, Anaheim, CA.
- Thoonen, E. E., Sleegers, P. J., Oort, F. J., Peetsma, T. T., & Geijsel, F. P. (2011). How to Improve Teaching Practices The Role of Teacher Motivation, Organizational Factors, and Leadership Practices. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 47(3), 496-536.

- Thurman, D. (1996). The effects of teaching practices on student self-perceptions of academic confidence and measured achievement in classroom utilizing constructivist and traditional practices. Paper presented at the Association of Constructivist Teachers, St. Louis.
- Timperley, H. (2008). Teacher Professiona Learning and Development. In J. Brophy (Ed.). United States of America: Michigan State University.
- Torff, B., & Sessions, D. (2008a). Factors associated with teachers' attitudes about professional development. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *35*(2), 123-133.
- Torff, B., & Sessions, D. (2008b). Factors associated with teachers' attitudes about professional development. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 17(4), 123-133.
- Tsui, A. (2003). *Understanding expertise in teaching: Case studies of second language teachers.* United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- Tsui, A. B. (2005). Expertise in teaching: Perspectives and issues. In K. Johnson (Ed.), *Expertise in second language learning and teaching* (pp. 167-189). New York: Palgrave: Mcmillan.
- Van Driel, J. (2014). Professional Learning of Science Teachers. In C. Bruguière, A. Tiberghien & P. Clément (Eds.), *Topics and Trends in Current Science Education* (Vol. 1, pp. 139-157): Springer Netherlands.
- Van Driel, J. H., Beijaard, D., & Verloop, N. (2001). Professional development and reform in science education: The role of teachers' practical knowledge. *Journal of research in science teaching*, 38(2), 137-158.
- Van Teijlingen, E., & Hundley, V. (2004). The importance of pilot studies. *Social research update*, 16(40), 33-36.
- Vermunt, J. D., & Verloop, N. (1999). Congruence and friction between learning and teaching. *Learning and instruction*, 9(3), 257-280.
- Villegas-Reimers, E. (2003). Teacher Professional Development: An International Review of the Literature. International Institute for Educational Planning: UNESCO.
- Von Glasersfeld, E. (1984). An introduction to radical constructivism. *The invented reality*, 17-40.
- Von Glasersfeld, E. (1989). Cognition, construction of knowledge, and teaching. *Synthese*, 80(1), 121-140.
- Von Glasersfeld, E. (1995). Radical Constructivism: A Way of Knowing and Learning.

 London: Falmer Press.

- Von Glasersfeld, E. (2000). Piaget's legacy: Cognition as adaptive activity *Understanding representation in the cognitive sciences* (pp. 283-287). Massachusetts: Springer.
- Vygotski, L. L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. United States: Harvard university press.
- Vygotsky, L. (1987). Zone of proximal development. United States: Harvard University Press.
- Waheed, H., Salami, A. B., Ali, D. O., Dahlan, A., & Rahman, A. (2011). Collaborative web-based teacher professional development system: a new direction for teacher professional development in Malaysia. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 1(7), 208-216.
- Wahlstrom, K. L., & Louis, K. S. (2008). How teachers experience principal leadership: The roles of professional community, trust, efficacy, and shared responsibility. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 44(4), 458-495.
- Watson, D. (2014). Teacher Development Trust Welcomes Government Fund for Teacher Profesional Development and Calls for Teacher Career Structure, from http://tdtrust.org/press-release-teacher-development-trust-welcomes-government-fund-for-teacher-professional-development-and-calls-for-a-teacher-career-structure/
- Watson, J. (2001). Social constructivism in the classroom. Support for Learning, 16(3), 140-147.
- Week, E. (2005). Professional Development. Retrieved from: http://www.edweek.org/context/topics/issuespage.cfm?id=16
- Welch, T., & Gultig, J. (2002). *Becoming competent: Initiatives for the improvement of teacher education in South Africa 1995-2002*. Paper presented at the Pan-Commonwealth Conference, Durban, South Africa.
- Wenger, E. (1998). *Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity*. United Kingdom: Cambridge university press.
- Wenglinsky, H. (2002). The Link between Teacher Classroom Practices and Student Academic Performance. *Education policy analysis archives*, 10(12), 1-12.
- Wiersma, W. (2008). Research Methods in Education: An Introduction (9th ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon
- Willis, S. (2002). Creating a Knowledge Base for Teaching: A Conversation with James Stigler. *Educational Leadership*, 59(6), 6-11.
- Woo, Y., & Reeves, T. C. (2007). Meaningful interaction in web-based learning: A social constructivist interpretation. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 10(1), 15-25.

- Wood, D. R. (2007). Professional learning communities: Teachers, knowledge, and knowing. *Theory into Practice*, 46(4), 281-290.
- Yager, R. E. (1991). The constructivist learning model. Science Teacher, 58(6), 52-57.
- Zakaria, E., & Daud, M. Y. (2009). Assessing mathematics teachers' professional development needs. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 8(2), 225-231.

